



[image: image]













[image: image]




















Copyright © 2024 by Serj Tankian


Jacket design by Terri Sirma


Jacket photograph © Travis Shinn


Jacket copyright © 2024 by Hachette Book Group, Inc.


Hachette Book Group supports the right to free expression and the value of copyright. The purpose of copyright is to encourage writers and artists to produce the creative works that enrich our culture.


The scanning, uploading, and distribution of this book without permission is a theft of the author’s intellectual property. If you would like permission to use material from the book (other than for review purposes), please contact permissions@hbgusa.com. Thank you for your support of the author’s rights.


Hachette Books


Hachette Book Group


1290 Avenue of the Americas


New York, NY 10104


HachetteBooks.com


Twitter.com/HachetteBooks


Instagram.com/HachetteBooks


First Edition: May 2024


Note: “Down with the System” was originally published in Serj Tankian’s Glaring Through Oblivion (HarperCollins, 2011).


Published by Hachette Books, an imprint of Hachette Book Group, Inc. The Hachette Books name and logo is a trademark of the Hachette Book Group.


The Hachette Speakers Bureau provides a wide range of authors for speaking events. To find out more, go to hachettespeakersbureau.com or email HachetteSpeakers@hbgusa.com.


Books by Hachette Books may be purchased in bulk for business, educational, or promotional use. For information, please contact your local bookseller or Hachette Book Group Special Markets Department at: special.markets@hbgusa.com.


The publisher is not responsible for websites (or their content) that are not owned by the publisher.


Print book interior design by Sheryl Kober


Library of Congress Control Number: 2024931064


ISBNs: 9780306831928 (hardcover); 9780306836220 (B&N signed edition); 9780306831942 (ebook)


E3-20240406-JV-NF-ORI
















Explore book giveaways, sneak peeks, deals, and more.









Tap here to learn more.







[image: Hachette Books logo]















DOWN WITH THE SYSTEM





When the doors of hope open


To an illuminating silence,


We plead to the gods of industry


To release us from our lives.


Casual neckties embrace phantom genes,


Possessing cellular catastrophes,


As sex scandals dictate


The winding road of Re’al Poli’tic


The bully runs out of his corner,


Images rule through the media,


The hungry hunger further during Thanksgiving,


Where the landowner


Turned urban corporate,


Thanks the native population


For their lands and lives.


“Thank you for letting us fuck you!”


Dormant doorknobs professing decisions


Behind closed doors,


Behind closed minds,


Attractive feudalism,


Commercial Orwellianism,


Global pacification proclamations


Bought for a dollar increase in the minimum wage.


Devaluating nationalism against the dollar.


Repeating the mistakes of former empires.


Security is the deadliest and most misused word


Of the 20th century.


Under the auspices of security,


We murder, loot, and incarcerate.


We fight over the dismantling of others’


Weapons of mass destruction,


While building our sinister influencing programs.


We can feel the End near,


As we lay helpless against the global


Corporate, elitist machine.


Open your eyes,


Open your mouths,


Close your hands,


And make a fist.


Down with the System!


















INTRODUCTION



It was only 5 a.m. and I already felt like I’d been run over by a truck. Sitting on the edge of my hotel bed in Denver with the phone pressed to my ear, I was wondering how it had come to this. On the other end of the line was Howard Stern—well, not just Howard but his whole motley radio show crew—and they were grilling me.


Two weeks earlier, System Of A Down had released our second album, Toxicity, and it was now the number-one album in the country. I think it’s safe to say we were as unlikely a chart-topper as had ever existed in modern music history: a band of Armenian-Americans playing a practically unclassifiable clash of wildly aggressive metal riffs, unconventional tempo-twisting rhythms, and Armenian folk melodies, with me alternately growling, screaming, and crooning lyrics that could pivot from avant-garde silliness to raging socio-political rants in the space of a single line. I’d be the first to admit it: it’s not easy listening. But the news of our surprise chart triumph was drowned out a little by another unexpected event.


The day we hit number one was September 11, 2001.


I was staring at my TV that clear, sunny, horrible Tuesday morning as I watched the second airplane hit the World Trade Center. Like most other people, I was in absolute shock. How did this happen? Who would do such a thing? And why? Politicians and many in the media quickly offered pat explanations like “they hate our freedoms.” But I understood the history of the Middle East, I read the New York Times, I read The Economist, and that kind of oversimplification didn’t sit quite right with me. Ultimately, I hunkered down and did what I always do when I’m trying to get my head around something I can’t quite figure out: I wrote. Two days after the attacks, I posted my thoughts in the form of an essay titled “Understanding Oil” on the band’s website.


“Terror is not a spontaneous human action without credence,” I wrote. “People just don’t hijack planes and commit harakiri without any weight of thought to the action.” In the subsequent paragraphs, I dove deep into US foreign policy, particularly the steep price of our oil consumption. I explained that the 9/11 attacks were “a reaction to existing injustices around the world, generally unseen to most Americans.” There was a long, sordid history to consider. The US government had secured oil concessions from Turkey through secret deals after World War I in return for ignoring the Armenian Genocide, which was perpetrated by the Turks. It had also overthrown a democratically elected leader in Iran and replaced him with a king in order to get access to that country’s resources. The American government even allied with both Saddam Hussein and the Taliban when it suited their perceived interests. The sanctions in Iraq were contributing to mass suffering there, because they usually hurt the poor disproportionately.


The closer you looked, the less shocking the 9/11 attacks actually were. I could already sense the gathering thirst for vengeance throughout the country and was worried about the consequences of acting on it. “If we carry out bombings in Afghanistan or elsewhere to appease public demand and very likely kill innocent civilians along the way,” I wrote, “we’ll be creating many more martyrs going to their deaths in retaliation against the retaliation.” Instead, I suggested a multilateral approach, one that would bring the terrorists responsible to international justice.


Most everything in that essay would be echoed by many others in the months and years to come. A lot of it has become conventional wisdom now. But at the time it was posted, two days after 9/11, it did not go over well. At all. The way a lot of people viewed it was like this: the whole nation is in shock and mourning, and the lead singer of one of the most popular bands in the country is suggesting that we might have brought this upon ourselves. That it’s our fault. That’s an overly reductive way to interpret what I was saying, but I get it.


This was the pre-social-media era, so the backlash didn’t come as the all-consuming digital tidal wave you might get today, but it came all the same. I was condemned in newspapers, on music websites, and all over the radio, including by Howard Stern, who was arguably the country’s most popular and influential media personality in those days. Our record label insisted that we take the essay down off our website and for the first and only time in my life, I acquiesced to such a request. The pressure was that intense. Notably, a lot of the anger at me and at the band had a xenophobic tinge. We were pilloried as immigrants from the Middle East who had the nerve to criticize the country that had taken us in and given us opportunities. (Although Armenia is not actually in the Middle East, no one was getting hung up splitting geographical hairs.)


The night before I got on the phone for Howard’s show, I’d had a meeting with my bandmates at that same hotel. They weren’t much happier with me than everyone else was. They’d all dreamed of what we’d just achieved—a number-one album—and that success was being drowned out by death threats and accusations that we were all traitors. This was the band’s big moment, and my essay was threatening to ruin it for us all. At that meeting, the first thing our guitarist Daron said to me was, “Are you trying to get us all killed?” I remember telling him that what I wrote was the truth, that it was all verifiable.


“Who cares that it’s the truth?!” Now it was John, our drummer, going at me. He later compared it to giving a eulogy at a funeral and calling the dead guy an asshole in front of his grieving family and friends. It may be the truth, but it’s not a very smart (or sensitive) thing to do.


“It’s not a good time to talk about this,” he said.


I was very apologetic to the guys. I had naively thought that in a democracy you could always tell the truth.


Going on Stern’s radio show the morning that our tour was kicking off was seen as necessary damage control. I knew my job was to go on the air and calm everyone down. Rick Rubin, who’d produced both of our first two albums and was also the head of our record label, knew Stern and had helped set up the call. He also gave me some key advice: “Don’t try to challenge Howard. It won’t go over well if you do. Just try to pivot him into talking about government abuses and things like that. He understands that the US government has done some bad shit in the past.”


So that’s how I found myself, sweating it out on the phone before the sun even came up in Denver. The odd thing about all the criticism I’d been getting was that because the essay had been taken down off the website, very few people had actually read it. This included Howard, Robin, and everyone else in Howard’s studio that morning. All they’d read was someone else’s skewed report summarizing what I’d written.


I could tell from the minute I got on the phone that Howard and his crew were ginned up for a rip-roaring argument. I didn’t take the bait. I declined to try to summarize my three-page essay into a tight soundbite for them. Every time they lobbed an accusation at me, I’d calmly pivot, just like Rick suggested. Rather than elaborate on the US government’s mistakes, I explained that “all governments commit injustices.” When I was asked about the dire human consequences of the no-fly zone and the embargo against Iraq, I merely pointed to the New York Times’ reporting on the subject. I admitted that posting my essay when I did was, if nothing else, certainly a case of bad timing.


No matter what I did or didn’t say, it seemed like Howard was fired up with righteous indignation, and his whole cohort acted like it was their patriotic duty to put me in my place. I can vividly recall staring out the window of my hotel room during that phone call and seeing the Denver Coliseum across the street. We were set to perform there that same night. Massive American flags were displayed on screens outside the arena, with “God Bless America” playing on a loop from the speakers. That kind of stuff was everywhere in those days. Politicians, newscasters, journalists, hell, even the front-desk staff at our hotel were wearing flag pins on their lapels. It was as if the flag itself had become some sort of universal marker to delineate what had become an all-consuming question in those weeks after 9/11: Are you with us or against us? Later that same day, George W. Bush framed it that way in an address to Congress: “Either you are with us, or you are with the terrorists.” And that’s kind of what that call with Howard was; it was his way of sussing out whether I—and by extension, our whole band—was with the US or against it. There was no middle ground, no room for nuance.


At one point, Howard asked flat out whether we hated America.


“No, we love America!” I responded.


It was true. I did and do love America. But I don’t think I’d ever felt less a part of it than I did in that moment.


All four of my grandparents survived the Armenian Genocide. My parents met in Beirut, where I was born. We lived there until I was seven, when we fled the civil war in Lebanon and emigrated to California. I couldn’t speak English well, didn’t understand the culture, and grew up in a community near Los Angeles that was heavily populated with Armenian-Americans. But I don’t think I’ve ever felt more like an immigrant, an outsider, than I did that day on the phone with Howard Stern.


That said, I guess the interview helped put the pin back in the grenade, so to speak. I’m sure some crisis PR firm could point to it as a masterclass in deflection. But I didn’t feel great about it. To this day, it still bothers me. I’m not angry at Howard or anyone else; I’m disappointed with myself. I have no regrets about writing the essay, but I have lots of regrets about not defending it more vigorously. I pulled my punches. It was a difficult moment to stand up for the truth, and though I’d initially done so by writing that essay, when the heat got turned up, I wilted a little.


Look, it was an intense moment. People were freaked out. When you’d turn on the TV, there was a rolling ticker along the bottom of the screen tracking the death toll from the attacks and offering up context-free quotes from experts and public officials predicting where the next targets might be—water treatment plants, nuclear facilities, public gatherings. Our tour—which was called, I shit you not, “The Pledge of Allegiance Tour” (a title that, it should be noted, had been chosen months earlier)—had to be delayed because travel was completely shut down across the country. We were one of the first bands back out on the road, and just the idea of getting thousands of people together in an arena seemed wildly risky. In the case of our tour, the danger was further ramped up based on the domestic threats and hate being directed at us.


Our first single, “Chop Suey!,” had essentially been banned from the radio. The song’s chorus—“I don’t think you trust in my self-righteous suicide / I cry when angels deserve to die”—did feel like a surreal reference to the disturbing events of 9/11, though obviously it was written long before that. But the ban itself was just a misguided knee-jerk effort by the country’s largest radio conglomerate, Clear Channel, to prohibit songs they felt might upset listeners already distraught by the attacks. I suppose “Chop Suey!” was an obvious candidate for this list of banned songs, certainly more obvious than some of the others (which included John Lennon’s “Imagine,” Louis Armstrong’s “What a Wonderful World,” and Simon and Garfunkel’s “Bridge over Troubled Water”).


Amid all this tension and paranoia, maybe it’s understandable that I backed down. I can look back on it now and see that if I had really tried to speak my mind at the time, to challenge the jingoistic fervor that had taken a hold of the country, it almost certainly would’ve fallen on deaf ears. No one wanted to hear that shit, and they definitely didn’t want to hear it on “The Howard Stern Show.” As Edward S. Herman and Noam Chomsky put it in their book, Manufacturing Consent, if you try to question the premise of the system in a thirty-second soundbite, you’ll come off looking like a madman. I was there to defuse a bomb, to quiet the death threats, to make sure more radio stations didn’t drop us from their playlists, to keep our tour on track, to convince my bandmates I was still part of the team.


There had always been a feeling within System that I cared more about our message and our political activism than I cared about the band itself. Ultimately, this was probably more true than I realized or was willing to admit at the time. My bandmates had all grown up with dreams of being rock stars. I hadn’t. I loved music, but my artistic journey was still very much in its infancy; in fact, I’d never studied or even really played music growing up, and it wasn’t until college when this passion really took off. I had a whole life—interesting, multilayered, diverse—before music became my everything. I was an activist long before I was an artist and I have never wanted to be one of those vacant souls who speaks to millions but talks to no one. In that moment, though, the most important thing seemed to be not fucking up everything for my friends—or worse.


People sometimes ask me how excited I was when Toxicity came out and hit number one, but all I remember is being unbelievably stressed out. The fact is I had just turned thirty-four and didn’t really have the emotional and spiritual tools to deal with that kind of anxiety back then. I’d recently started meditating, but in the early days of my spiritual practice, I mistook passivity for nonaggression. When Howard was coming for me, I knew how to defuse his hostility, but not how to answer it. I hadn’t learned the virtues of compassionate confrontation. This wasn’t something I could simply read about or take a class on. It would take years, much experience, and the near collapse of System Of A Down for me to fully understand it. Even today, it’s an ongoing process.


Just before I got off the phone with Howard, he wrapped up the segment by saying, “Serj came in here and he said the right things.” If anything drives home the shortcomings of my appearance on his show, it’s that sentence. I’ve never wanted to be the guy who says all the right things to make everyone feel better. That’s not to say I’m trying to upset people, but rather, my life’s work has always been about learning how to deliver hard truths at difficult moments in ways people will hear them. That was kind of the whole point of System Of A Down. Or at least, it was for me.


There is no doubt that morning on Howard Stern’s show was an opportunity lost. I had a lot to say about American foreign policy, about our country’s history of intervention in the Middle East, about how freedom of speech itself is always the first casualty of war—but I didn’t. I let my actions be dictated by fear. Fear of ridicule. Fear of ostracism. Fear of violence. Fear, frankly, that my bandmates would never forgive me. But I like to think that the lesson I took from that failure was more important than the failure itself. It’s at those moments when no one wants to hear the truth that it’s so important to tell it.


Now I knew what it felt like to hold my tongue when it most needed to be unleashed. And I vowed that I would never let it happen again.















CHAPTER 1



My story starts in a small village I’ve never been to, nearly sixty years before I was born. Efkere was a quiet hamlet of stone houses that sat nestled on a modest hillside in what is now central Turkey. A brook ran through the center of the village, not far from an ornate domed church that was built into the hill behind it. When my grandfather, Stepan, was born in Efkere in 1909, it was a predominantly Armenian enclave. Today, much of the village has been reduced to rubble by time and neglect, and there are no Armenians among the remaining inhabitants. It’s a place that no longer even exists on modern maps.


Stepan was my mother’s father, and when I was younger, I knew him as a gentle, steady presence in my life. He was a doting grandpa who would buy me toys, make me towers of toasted bologna sandwiches, and spend hours working in his garden. He didn’t talk much about his childhood and the life he’d lived, but at times I’d catch glimpses of a quiet willpower that his life’s trials had forged in him. I can remember once, when he was well into his seventies, a conversation I had with him about the virtues of exercise. He mentioned to me that even at his age, he could still do twenty push-ups, no problem. He wasn’t a big guy, and I shrugged a little, not wanting to disrespect him but clearly dubious of his claim. In a flash, my elderly grandfather was on the floor, cranking out twenty push-ups like he was a Marine recruit.


When he put his mind to something, nothing could get in his way. For years, like many men of his generation, Stepan constantly smoked cigarettes. One day when he was in his late sixties, my uncle was giving him a hard time about smoking, so Stepan told him, “Fine. I’ll quit smoking right now.” And he did. Right then, after more than fifty years of smoking two packs a day, he went cold turkey simply because my uncle had insinuated that he couldn’t.


My grandfather lived well into his nineties, by which time his body was beginning to break down. He could no longer walk and was bedridden. Despite this, not much else was wrong with him. He didn’t have any sort of life-threatening condition—no cancer, no heart ailment, nothing that had him yet marked for the great beyond. But in his bones, he felt like his time had come.


His first wife, my grandmother Varsenig, had died decades before, and his contentious relationship with his second wife had mercifully ended in divorce. He was living in a nursing home. To this day, I still feel terrible that he was placed there, but realistically, everyone in the family worked at the time, so no one was available to look after him. He hated being in a convalescent home, and I have no doubt it contributed to his sense of exasperation. At a certain point, he decided it was his time to go, so he stopped eating and drinking.


As you can imagine, this was tremendously distressing for my family, but there was nothing any of us could do to convince him to change his mind. I was in my thirties then, and I can remember sitting by his bed, begging him, “Grandpa, come on, you’ve got to eat!” He looked up at me from his bed and smiled. “Eat, and then what?” he asked. I had no real answer for him. Neither did anyone else. Less than a week later, he was gone. He’d essentially starved himself to death.


On one level, it was an incredibly difficult time for our family, but on another level, I couldn’t help but admire the supernatural strength of this man’s resolve. He chose the exact moment when he was ready to go, and in doing so, he showed that it was possible to override hunger, discomfort, and our innate survival instinct if you were committed enough. Who does that? What creates that sort of willpower in a person? To understand that—and to understand my life, my work, and the things that drive me—you need to understand what happened in Efkere.
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The village of Efkere dates to at least the thirteenth century. It formed in the shadow of the Surp Garabed Vank—a stately, walled monastery that was perched on top of a nearby hill. The monastery reportedly housed some of the remains of Saint John the Baptist.


There are two competing theories behind the origin of the village’s name. The first is that it’s an adaptation of the Greek word yevkaria, which can translate as “sacred place,” a nod to the saint’s remains. The second and altogether more delightful theory—and the one to which my grandfather subscribed—is that it’s derived from the Armenian phrase hevk arav, which means “He took a breath” or “He panted.” As the story goes, in the fourth century, Saint Gregory the Illuminator was carrying John the Baptist’s remains up and down the steep hills through the region. Hevk Arav, or later, “Efkere,” is right where he stopped to take a breath.


Despite such colorful origin stories, Efkere was in many ways an unremarkable place. It was a picturesque, little village that attracted pilgrims from around the region who made their way to the monastery on holy days, but it was by no means special. It was a way station. And what happened to the Armenians there, happened to them most everywhere.


By the time Stepan was born in 1909, there were about five hundred Armenian families living in Efkere, as well as a smaller number of Turkish families. Stepan lived on the second floor of a house in the verin tagh, or “upper neighborhood,” on the hill that led up to the monastery. There was a workbench in his house where his mother, Vartouhi, made carpets. This was time-consuming and painstaking work. To weave one whole carpet would take an entire year.


Many in the town were artisans and tradesmen, but by the early 1900s, the local economy was floundering, and lots of families were relying on remittances from Efkerens living abroad, mostly in America, to pay for staples like food.


A grim specter seemed to be looming over Efkere in those days. In the years when my grandfather was a young boy, the town endured a cholera epidemic, a drought, a serious outbreak of typhoid fever, and the near-total collapse of the local economy. When the cholera hit in 1912, a crew of Turkish gendarmes set up a blockade around the town, and for a month, no one was allowed in or out. In retrospect, it was a disturbing harbinger of what was to come. When the epidemic abated, it had killed approximately thirty people in Efkere and accelerated an exodus of villagers already fueled by the drought and economic woes.


Stepan’s father, Garabed, made and sold ink, and like many townsfolk, he moved to the US for a spell, when Stepan was young. At the time, Stepan did not know Garabed was his father. Even after Garabed returned from the US, he didn’t live in the same house with Stepan, his mother, and his younger brothers, David and Harutyun, even though he was a frequent presence there. Everyone was instructed to refer to him only as “the Turkish man.” If anyone asked who was at home, the reply would always be that “the Turkish man is there.”


One day, at dinner, Stepan took his spoon and started eating, carelessly spilling some food onto the kitchen floor. Vartouhi raised her arm to slap her son when the Turkish man intervened, catching her hand.


“Don’t you dare do that to the boy!” the man told his mother.


Later, Stepan confronted his mother, demanding to know who the man was who’d saved him from being slapped.


“That’s your father,” she finally admitted. “We called him the Turkish man so you didn’t get used to calling him by his name, and he wouldn’t get arrested.”


Garabed was Armenian, not Turkish, but to be an Armenian man in those days was to invite unwanted attention from the Turkish authorities. As my grandfather put it many years later when he told me this story, “No one wanted the Turks to know about their Armenian origins. We lived keeping secrets.”


It was the unraveling of these secrets that would eventually lead to unfathomable tragedy for my family—and many families just like my own. And it was this tragedy that would come to define the lives of its survivors for generations.
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If you look at a modern map, Armenia is a small, landlocked country sandwiched between Turkey, Iran, Azerbaijan, and Georgia. But that country didn’t exist during the time Stepan and my three other Armenian grandparents were children. The areas they lived in were hundreds of miles from the Armenia of today.


Armenians often trace their primeval beginnings to the biblical figure of Noah, the forebearer of the nation’s legendary founding patriarch, Hayk, and there are written references to Armenia going back to the fifth century BC. It was the first country to adopt Christianity, just after 300 AD, a fact that would prove incredibly significant in its history, particularly after Islam became dominant in the region, beginning in the seventh century. After successive waves of invasions by Mongols, Turkmens, and other Central Asian tribes, what had been historically known as Armenia was swallowed more or less whole by the Ottoman Empire in the fifteenth century.


Although the Ottoman Empire was generally ruled by ethnic Turks, it was initially a sprawling, multinational empire that included Arabs, Kurds, Assyrians, Armenians, and many other peoples among its citizens. Islam was the state religion, but the burdens of non-Muslim citizenship for the empire’s Jews, Christians, and other non-Muslims were not necessarily unwieldy. As such, Armenians lived, largely peaceably, under the rule of the Ottoman Turks for centuries. However, as the empire began to fray at the edges in the middle part of the nineteenth century, it began consolidating into a more explicitly Turkish, more explicitly Muslim empire, and the position of the Armenians within its borders grew increasingly fraught.


The Armenians were a Christian minority in an Islamic empire, but their marginalization grew, at least initially, more from economic and social factors, which were only later framed in religious terms. Like my great-grandparents, many Armenians had a long history as successful merchants and tradesmen, and the cultural emphasis they placed on education put them in an advantageous position within the Ottoman Empire. Many of them began to fill the ranks of a respected professional class as doctors, lawyers, pharmacists, bankers, and other well-paying vocations. But their visible upward mobility engendered resentment.


Then, in the late nineteenth century, a series of military defeats for the Ottoman Turks rapidly shrunk the empire’s territory. The Armenians were portrayed as a restive alien population within the empire’s borders and became a scapegoat for its inexorable decline. This phenomenon—in which a minority becomes a target of blame during a time of national hardship—is not necessarily uncommon throughout human history, as I’d learn later on, but it had a profound impact on the sequence of events that followed. As time progressed, the dynamic between the Armenians and their neighbors became a vexing issue. What were the Ottoman authorities going to do about this Armenian minority within their borders? Within and outside the empire, this became known, rather ominously, as “the Armenian Question.”


When European powers pushed for better treatment for the Armenians, it was seen as proof of where the Armenians’ real loyalties lay—namely, with Europe, instead of with the Ottoman Empire. When Armenian political leaders agitated for civil reforms and legal protections within the dying empire, it was presented to their anxious neighbors as evidence of a rising rebellion. Such efforts were then answered with widespread, state-sanctioned repression and violence.


In the mid-1890s, between one hundred thousand and three hundred thousand Armenians were brutally killed by Ottoman soldiers, Kurdish brigands, and a host of irregular militias and mobs in what became known as the Hamidian Massacres. The year my grandfather Stepan was born, in 1909, an additional twenty thousand to thirty thousand Armenians were massacred by Ottoman forces and local mobs in Adana, about one hundred miles from Efkere. This was the perilous world he and the rest of my grandparents were born into, where keeping your Armenian heritage secret could be the difference between life and death.


The Ottomans lost nearly all their European territory in the Balkan War of 1912–1913. When World War I broke out in 1914 and they threw their lot in with the Germans, most of the Ottoman Armenian soldiers fought for the Ottomans, yet they were still not trusted. Armenian military units were demobilized and converted into labor battalions. Most of those soldiers were then systematically slaughtered by the Ottoman Army.


Word of what was happening spread quickly. Back in the small town of Efkere, Stepan recalled Turkish gendarmes coming to a house that belonged to his grandmother. The woman who lived there had a seventeen-year-old son whom the Turks insisted should be fighting in the war. She knew that enlistment in the Ottoman Army would be a death sentence for her son, so every time the gendarmes came, she told him to hide. Finally, the gendarmes beat the woman so severely that the boy emerged from a back room, where he’d been buried in blankets. “Take me, but please don’t touch my mother,” he cried. He left with them and was never seen nor heard from again.


All across the empire, early in the war, deportations of Armenians were carried out in the name of state security, and sporadic local massacres were justified as a military necessity. When the deportations began in Efkere, the authorities told people not to take food or heavy things with them because they’d be able to return in fifteen days. But those deported never returned. People were advised to take Turkish names and convert to Islam.


There were small pockets of Armenian resistance. As the noose began to tighten around Efkere, Stepan’s uncle, then a teenager, eluded Turkish gendarmes and fled the village along with a dozen or so friends, intent on joining Murad of Sebastia, a legendary military leader who was conducting guerilla warfare with a small band of Armenian rebels. But the uncle and his would-be compatriots were intercepted in Ankara, besieged by Turks, and killed. Murad himself survived until 1918, when he died in battle.


Throughout the empire, there were mass arrests of Armenian men followed by summary executions. Stepan recalled watching his father and two older male relatives being hauled away in chains by gendarmes. His mother insisted Stepan bear witness to the arrests, even though Stepan was only five at the time. Recounting the story more than eighty years later, he grew agitated as he admitted that he didn’t get a good look at his father. “His head was bent back, so I didn’t see his entire face. I said, ‘I didn’t see him, Mom. I didn’t see him.’”


The family was allowed to bring Garabed food at the local prison shortly thereafter. When they arrived, Stepan could see his father caged behind iron bars. He handed the food to a policeman who handed it to his father and then told Stepan to “go away!” As Stepan tried to give his father a kiss through the bars, his father strained to reach him but failed.


“Stepanik, don’t go! I’m coming!” his father yelled after him.


But the police wouldn’t allow it. It was the last time he’d ever see his father.


By the spring of 1915, the widespread violence and forced migration had coalesced into a systematic campaign to eliminate the Armenians from the Ottoman Empire. It was clear the state saw the First World War as their chance to settle “the Armenian Question” once and for all.


With most of the men already disappeared, hordes of women and children were then emptied out of villages, towns, and cities, and forced by the Turks and their allies to walk en masse hundreds of miles into the Syrian desert. The details of these death-haunted human caravans are almost too gruesome to bear. On the road, the Armenians faced widespread attacks, looting, rape, murder, torture, disease, and starvation.


Stepan was marched out of Efkere with his grandmother, his younger brother David, and his mother carrying his youngest brother, Harutyun, in her arms. They were part of a group of about fifty—all women, children under ten, or very old, infirm men—who left the village and joined a convoy of roughly a thousand other Armenians. They walked through mountains, valleys, deserts, and forests, under the watch of the gendarmes, who steered the caravan to avoid population centers where outside observers might be able to witness the abject horror for themselves. Those who lagged behind were brutally beaten and whipped.


One night, the group stopped in a forest to sleep and was attacked by armed bandits. Vartouhi had her clothes torn off her body by knife-wielding assailants. In an effort to shield her baby son Harutyun from the violence and mayhem, she tried to toss him out of the way, to safety. It didn’t work. He choked to death in the ensuing melee.


The Armenians walked for months with little access to food and water. Stepan’s other brother David was a wily, clever boy who had a talent for finding scraps of food or, if that failed, snatching them out of other people’s hands and not getting caught. He always shared whatever he found with his older brother. Stepan recalled David scurrying up to him and pressing a piece of bread or some figs into his hand with simple instructions. “Eat this. If you don’t eat anything, you’ll die.” But there just wasn’t enough food to go around for everyone. Shortly after the death of Harutyun, Stepan’s aunt gave birth to a baby. Within two weeks, the infant starved to death.


The conditions bred an almost unimaginable desperation among those enduring the death march. Stepan recalled parents so wracked by hunger that when their son died, they cut him into pieces and cooked him to eat. Others on the caravan were appalled but did nothing in response. As Stepan put it simply, “They understood.”


Death was a constant, and the macabre became distressingly common. On the edge of a forest, near the town of Jarabulus, Stepan wandered into the aftermath of a ghastly scene: eight dead Armenian women, stripped naked, their breasts cut off, with two dead children by their side. Eighty years later, as he began to tell me this story, he stopped himself. “I don’t want to talk about this,” he said, shutting down. It was still too painful.


These sorts of grisly stories spread among the caravans, creating an ever-present shadow of terror and dread. At a town along the Euphrates River, Stepan and others were given permission to go to a public bath, but doing so required crossing the mighty Euphrates, the biggest river in the Middle East, on a small ferry. On the boat with him was a group of teenage Armenian girls. When some Turkish sailors noticed the girls, they approached menacingly and cornered them. Fearing rape or worse, the girls, one after another, threw themselves over the side of the ferry into the rushing waters of the Euphrates, choosing death by drowning over leaving their fates to the Turks.


After walking for close to a year, Stepan and what was left of his family reached the city of Raqqa, in Syria, nearly four hundred miles from where they’d begun their forced trek. Of the thousand or so who’d been part of the caravan when they left Efkere, roughly half were already dead. The march would then continue on for another hundred miles or so to large, open-air concentration camps in the desert near Deir ez-Zor. Hundreds of thousands of Armenians ended up in these camps in Deir ez-Zor, where they were subject to further starvation and other assorted atrocities. That same desert in current-day Syria recently bore witness to another massacre, this time of Yazidis at the hands of ISIS.


History repeats itself, sometimes in the exact same places.


For Stepan and Vartouhi, malnutrition would cause them to go blind for two years before their eyesight began to return. When Stepan’s grandmother died, the Turks would not allow her to be buried, so his mother and another woman wrapped her in a shroud and tossed her into the Euphrates.


Perhaps the most horrific part of Stepan’s story is how ordinary it actually was. For Ottoman Armenians in 1915, forced displacement, brutalization, rape, starvation, disease, and widespread slaughter were the norm. I grew up listening to my grandfather’s testimony, so much so that his story became inextricably woven into the fabric of my own lived experience. Later on, I learned more details about his story because I was able to record him on camera in a series of interviews conducted by an organization gathering stories from survivors of the Armenian Genocide. And his wasn’t the only story passed down to me during my childhood. I also heard occasional appalling snippets of the manifold miseries endured by my three other grandparents—my mom’s mother was denied an opportunity to kiss her father’s hand as he was hauled away by the Turks to his death; my dad’s mother saw her parents and brothers murdered in front of her house by Turkish gendarmes, and was then sold with her sisters to Kurdish tribesmen—but all of their stories are just another thread in this nightmarish human tapestry.
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It’s important to recognize that the Armenian survivors of this campaign of annihilation were not necessarily stronger, smarter, or made of sterner stuff than those who became its victims. As Auschwitz survivor Primo Levi wrote of the Holocaust’s human and moral toll in The Drowned and the Saved:




In the space of a few weeks or months the deprivations to which they were subjected led them to a condition of pure survival, a daily struggle against hunger, cold, fatigue, and blows in which the room for choices (especially moral choices) was reduced to zero. Among these, very few survived the test, and this thanks to the conjunction of many improbable events. In short, they were saved by luck, and there is not much sense in trying to find something common to all their destinies, beyond perhaps their initial good health.





Levi was writing about the Nazi concentration camps, but his words are no less true of the Turkish pogroms against the Armenians that preceded them. My father’s grandfather, an orange farmer who would also deliver mail around his region of the Ottoman Empire when crops were out of season, was out on one of these long-haul postal deliveries when soldiers came to empty out his home village. So, he miraculously escaped the slaughter. My mother’s grandfather also managed to elude the Turkish Army, hiding in the rugged hills outside Tokat in what is now central Turkey. But when he tried to return home, he was captured, taken to a prison camp, and then never heard from again. One was lucky, one was not.


So why open this book with this catalog of horrors? Am I just trying to throw cold water on all those readers who picked it up hoping to find behind-the-scenes stories of tour hijinks or to discover why System Of A Down hasn’t made an album in more than fifteen years? I swear it’s not that. (And I promise I will tell those tales, too.) But to understand anything about me, my life, or even System Of A Down, you need to understand the Armenian Genocide, which is the rough, rocky river that runs through it. It’s the original sin that’s nearly always being reckoned with, even when it seems far out of sight.


For my grandparents, these were traumas absorbed at a fatefully impressionable age. There have been studies that show how trauma is actually passed down across generations, literally imprinted onto your DNA. I have no doubt that this happened for millions of Armenians in the diaspora like me, but that’s only part of what I’m talking about.


In very real ways, the Armenian Genocide has never been fully reckoned with and has continued to reverberate in people’s lives for more than a century, right up until today. Despite the suffering that my family, and millions of other families, endured, what is perhaps even more painful is the fact that entire nations—most notably, Turkey, the perpetrators of the Genocide itself—deny to this day that it ever happened in the first place, sweeping my people’s history under the rug. Throughout modern-day Turkey, remnants of Armenian life and culture, like my grandfather’s village of Efkere, have been destroyed, discarded, and allowed to disintegrate into nothingness. If genocide is ultimately an act of erasure, denial is its final, comprehensive deed.


For Stepan, the horrific trauma he endured certainly didn’t melt away with the defeat of the Ottoman Empire. After surviving the epic death march, he and his brother David were separated from their mother and became homeless, often sleeping on the streets wrapped in cardboard, hugging each other for warmth. They were discovered by missionaries who sent them to live in an orphanage in Istanbul, then later to similar facilities in Aleppo, Adana, and Corinth. But after both grew ill, they were separated from each other. Stepan was living in an orphanage in Cyprus when he received a letter informing him that his brother David had died. He was so distraught that he tried to hurl himself into the sea. When he was ten, Stepan was reunited with his mother, who took him to see David’s grave. He was still so overcome with grief that on successive Sundays, he tried to dig up his brother to see him again before his mother finally convinced him to let David rest in peace.


A few years later, Stepan and his mother, Vartouhi, were separated again, as she was unable to take care of him. He landed in Beirut in 1924 at the age of thirteen, where he began working as a carpenter, a blacksmith, and a stone carver. Unbeknownst to Stepan, Vartouhi was also in Beirut for a while and, after a time, got remarried, albeit without informing her son of the wedding. When he learned of his mother’s nuptials, he was furious, and went searching for the wedding party with anger in his heart. Fortunately, he never found them, but for years afterward, the two were mostly estranged.


Stepan and his mother eventually reconciled and spent time with each other’s families. Vartouhi emigrated to Soviet Armenia, the country that had been incorporated into the Soviet Union in 1922 and would later morph into modern-day Armenia. When they connected for the last time in the days before her death, it had been years since they’d seen each other. Vartouhi held her son tightly, her hands roving across his skin. Stepan was momentarily confused.


“What are you looking for?” he asked her.


“There must be a scar here,” she replied. “Do you remember the day when I threw the wooden clog at you? You were injured.” Finally, she found the scar and was satisfied. “Now I know that you’re Stepan.”


Although they ended in a good place, the tumultuous nature of Stepan’s relationship with his mother is emblematic of the way trauma quietly reverberates across multiple generations, in ways that are not always fully grasped. Did Stepan blame his mother on some level for not protecting him from the Turks? For not protecting his two brothers? For trying to move on after the death of his father? Even if Stepan were still here today, could he answer any of these questions? I doubt it. But knowing even a small part of his history undoubtedly helps explain a guy who took pride in being able to crank out push-ups as a septuagenarian and who’d seen enough death to know when it was time for his own.


There’s also a direct line to be drawn from all these seemingly distant tales to the squalls and storms of my own life. Certainly, the story of Stepan’s suffering, and that of all my relatives and the Armenian people in general, now lives on in me, his descendant—it runs through my veins, breathes within my lungs, beats as one with my heart. And as a recipient of this testimony, I feel a duty—and an honor—to continue fighting for recognition of the Genocide that my people lived through. In my early days with System Of A Down as I began to see the impact we were having, I made a promise to my grandfather that I’d keep telling his story, for as long as it took for the world to acknowledge and account for these atrocities. I also connected his struggle to a wider fight against injustice and inequality, not just for Armenians but for everyone and everything. You could say that activism has always been in my blood. But I think there’s something a little more ineffable that I’ve inherited from Stepan too.


My bandmate John, who is also my brother-in-law, says I’m a stubborn bastard who will always do what I think is right regardless of what anyone else thinks. I’ve always taken that as a compliment—whether John means it that way or not. In my personal quest for truth, justice, and the path of righteousness, I tend to listen to everyone but ultimately stick to my gut. That’s a quality that has probably cost me friends, certainly cost me fans, and maybe even cost me my band, but I wouldn’t change it. I couldn’t even if I wanted to.


For better or worse, I like to think that’s my grandfather’s legacy too.


Stepan moved to California in 1974 and lived a full and often happy life. But I don’t think he ever made peace with what he’d lived through as a child. In his eighties, when he was asked about whether the psychic wounds of the Genocide had ever healed, he was unequivocal.


“No, they haven’t,” he said. “On the contrary, they seem quite fresh. At my age, it’s dangerous, but that’s God’s will.”















CHAPTER 2



In 2011, I traveled to Lebanon to play a show backed by the Lebanese Symphony Orchestra at Zouk Mikael, this beautiful Roman amphitheater perched on a hill, looking out on the Mediterranean Sea, outside Beirut. My family came with me for the trip, which made it especially meaningful for all of us.


My parents first met back in Beirut, and I was born there in 1967. We lived on the first floor of a three-story apartment building in the Achrafieh neighborhood for the first seven years of my life. My memories of that time in Beirut are gauzy but visceral: the deep blue of the Mediterranean; the low rumble of my dad’s Chevy Nova; the bright, white stucco of my grandparents’ house; the sweet, fragrant smell of the jasmine tree in the yard behind our apartment. To this day, the faintest whiff of jasmine immediately whips me back to our little backyard and that tree.


Of course, life was more complicated than that, even for a small child—by the time we left, we were fleeing a civil war that had engulfed the country—but I have undeniably warm memories of my early years in Beirut. Despite this, it never really felt like home. I remember getting ready to do an interview with the Lebanese equivalent of MTV before that show at Zouk Mikael. By 2011, I was nearly as well-known for advocating loudly and persistently for Armenian causes as I was for fronting System Of A Down. Before we went on the air, the producer of the segment was giving me a rundown of what they wanted to cover—my background, my plans for what I’d do while visiting Beirut, that sort of thing. When I started to tell him about my Armenian heritage, he gently cut me off.


“Can we tone down the Armenia stuff?” he asked. “I mean, aren’t you from Lebanon?”


He wasn’t trying to be rude, but that was definitely the first time anyone had ever asked me not to talk about Armenia. It really angered me. I understood the desire for Lebanese media to portray me as a Lebanese diaspora artist but asking me not to talk about being Armenian was outright offensive. I did so anyway.


As much as that producer’s questions bothered me, he did hit on a salient point: Where was I from? I mean, in a very technical sense, yes, I was born in Lebanon. But it never felt like where I was from. When I visited in 2011, I felt little connection to the place, except as a family ethnologist. The people were friendly, the food was incredible, but the disparity between different ruling factions there, the weapons visible everywhere in the hands of soldiers on the streets, it all made me uneasy with the thought that the rest of the world would one day look a lot like Lebanon. No, this definitely wasn’t “home” for me. But if not Lebanon, then where?
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My father, Khatchadour, was born in the sanjak of Alexandretta in 1937. Sanjaks were administrative units of the Ottoman Empire, sort of like counties or provinces. Today, what was once the city of Alexandretta is called İskenderun, an industrial port on the Turkish Mediterranean. At the time my dad came along though, Alexandretta was still part of Syria. Until 1936, it had been controlled by the French, who’d occupied it since the region was carved up by the victorious Entente powers after World War I. But a local political crisis that began in 1936 passed ruling authority of the sanjak from France to Turkey over the course of the next few years. In 1938, columns of Turkish soldiers entered Alexandretta in an ominous show of force, and the following year, the region officially became part of Turkey.


Unsurprisingly, the local Armenian minority were unnerved by these developments. Most packed up and left. That included my father and his family, who soon landed in Aleppo.


Khatchadour’s parents had met working on a road that was being built by the French military after World War I. Interestingly, his mother, Vartouhi, was doing hard manual labor, while his father, Nazaret, was charged with distributing water to the workers—by virtue of the fact that he owned two horses and a horse-cart. After they met and decided to marry, their French employers were so charmed by the couple that they offered to construct a special tent for them to spend their honeymoon in. The wedding night itself played out like the dark opening scene in a twisted fable: there was a deluge that washed away that special tent, and Nazaret’s hand was bitten by a snake. I’m not sure in which order those two things happened, but because of the snakebite, Nazaret’s arm was only partly functional for the rest of his life.


If you believe in omens, that snakebite may have been an allegorical curse. Nazaret had a heart attack and died when my father was only in second grade. Vartouhi, however, lived to be 102. She honored her beloved husband by never remarrying and wearing black until the day she died.


Khatchadour was one of six siblings—he had four brothers and a sister—and had to quit school after his father died so he could work and bring in money for the family. It was a hard life in Aleppo. The family lived in a neighborhood mainly populated by Kurds, Jews, Armenians, and other foreigners. To be a Christian in Aleppo marked you as an outsider, as it had for Armenians all over the Ottoman Empire. Armenians were also seen as being in league with the French, who’d only recently given up their status as the occupying power.


My dad found work assisting an Arab cobbler with whatever odd jobs needed doing—running errands, fetching supplies, that sort of thing—but he was essentially a street kid. He learned how to fight, literally and figuratively, for the things he needed, and to not take shit from anyone. One day, his boss told him to go fetch some water, so my dad ran to the local well with a jar. When he got there, some Arab kids started harassing him and knocked the full jar out of his hands. Recognizing him as a Christian, one of them got close to Khatchadour’s face and snarled, “Fuck Jesus.”


Never one to back down, my dad looked back at this kid and offered a similarly ill-mannered affront to the prophet Mohammed.


At this point, his tormentor turned to the crowd of people around him and pointed at my dad. “He just cursed the Prophet! He’s an infidel!”


As the bystanders began to get riled up, Khatchadour realized that he may have misplayed his hand and did the only smart thing he could do: he ran. The crowd followed him as he dashed through the streets and alleyways of Aleppo back toward the shop where he worked. When he arrived back there, out of breath, an angry mob close on his tail, his boss naturally asked what was happening. His chief tormentor spoke first.


“He cursed the Prophet Mohammed!”


Khatchadour’s boss, a devout Muslim, was disturbed to hear this.


“Is it true?” he asked my dad.


“It is,” my father admitted, “but only after he’d cursed Jesus.”


He looked at Khatchadour, raised his arm, and swiftly slapped him across the face. Then he asked my dad’s tormentor to step forward. When he did, the other boy got slapped, too.


“Okay, that’s it! It’s all over! Now, everyone get the hell out of my shop. And you,” he said looking at my dad, “get back to work.”
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I’m pretty sure I get my musical inclinations from my dad’s side of the family. Throughout my childhood, I heard many stories about his great-uncle, who was a traveling minstrel. He moved from village to village sharing songs and learning new ones. In those days without modern telecommunications, that’s how music spread around from region to region and became folklore.


Growing up in Aleppo, my father’s family didn’t have a radio or any sort of phonograph, so the way he’d listen to music would be to stand near other people’s houses whenever he heard music coming from inside. It could be a radio or someone playing the piano, a violin, or a guitar, and there my dad would be—a kid, outside in the street, straining to listen to the melody.


Dad bought his first instrument, an Arabic drum made from clay called a doumbek, when he was still pretty young. When he’d play it, he’d sing, too, and people would gather around and sing along. Apparently, he made a lot of his friends this way. He eventually started playing the guitar and the oud, a short-necked, Middle Eastern stringed instrument, as well, but he was always a great singer. He’d occasionally get hired to sing at weddings and other big events.


By the time he was a teenager, he’d begun to ask himself: If he really committed to it, could he make a life for himself with music? With this in mind, he heard that a master oud player would be teaching a class several towns away. To get there would require taking a few different buses, but it seemed like an opportunity too good to pass up, so he grabbed his oud and bought a bus ticket. While he was on one of the buses, he noticed an interesting-looking older man eying his oud.


“That yours?” the man asked.


They quickly fell into conversation. The man seemed to know a lot about ouds. He knew the person who’d made my dad’s instrument and he’d also heard of the oud master who my dad was headed to see. This man was a professional musician himself, which immediately sparked my father’s interest.


“Wow. How is it? I want to hear all about your life.”


The man paused and looked hard at my father. “You really want to know?”


“Please.”


The man gave it to him straight. He told my father tales of endless traveling, of relationships that fell apart because he was never around, of money struggles, of lonely nights tossing and turning in strange beds, of watching fellow musicians numbing themselves with alcohol and drugs.


My father took it all in. Then he made a decision. At the next stop, he got off the bus, walked across the road, and got on another one headed back in the direction he’d come from.


He never made it to that oud class.
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My mother was born in Beirut. She grew up in a white house that sat alongside a long, wide public staircase that was flanked on both sides by similar-looking homes. I knew the house well because my grandparents continued to live there until they moved to the US in 1974. I spent a lot of time there when I was younger. My Uncle Shant, who was just a teenager back then, still lived with my grandparents, and I loved hanging out with him.


My grandpa, Stepan, had lots of jobs after moving to Beirut—he worked as a carpenter, a stone carver, a screen printer, and eventually a shoe salesman in downtown Beirut—and although none of it made him wealthy, my mother’s childhood was a fair bit more financially stable than my dad’s. Whereas my father’s young life felt unmoored, my mother was relatively content in Beirut.


When we went back to Lebanon in 2011, we knocked on the door of that white house where she had lived with my grandparents. There was an Arab family living there, and when someone answered the door, we explained that our family used to live there. To their great credit—especially in a region where the words “we used to live here” tend to be charged with political grievance and incendiary emotion—the family invited us in for coffee. As we settled in, I could see a tender mix of nostalgia and yearning wash over my mother’s face. This was a special place for her.


She and my father first met in that very house. She was only fourteen then, and my dad was a couple of years older. At the time, her family lived on the first floor, but rented out the second floor of the house to another family. That family, as it turned out, was my dad’s older brother Misag, his wife, and their kids. That year, my father moved to Beirut and stayed with his older brother while looking for work. Every night, my mother would hear my father playing the guitar before bed and was slowly enchanted. One day, she went upstairs with two apricots, coupled on one branch, and showed it to my dad.


“This is you and me,” she told him.


They were both still teenagers then, and before any relationship could blossom, my father left on a boat bound for France. He was young back then and not ready to settle down just yet.


My father bought the cheapest ticket for this journey, which meant he didn’t have a room and slept each night on the boat’s deck. During the days, he’d frequently play his guitar and sing, drawing a crowd of onlookers. One day, the boat’s chef heard him playing and asked if he knew any Turkish songs. As it so happened, he did. In fact, because my father’s parents had been born in what is now central Turkey, they both spoke the language well and passed it along to him. So, upon the chef’s request, he started playing a Turkish song, and the man’s eyes welled up with tears, overcome with emotion.


“I’m Turkish,” the chef revealed. “Hearing that song reminds me of home.”
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